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Thursday, May 12, 2005

--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Good morning everyone.


MR. KEITH:  Good morning.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.


MR. VLAHOS:  The Board is sitting today to hear the application by Espanola Regional Hydro Distribution Corp.  For the record, my name is Paul Vlahos and my panellist is Pamela Nowina.  Appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Nowina.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm here as counsel for Board staff, and with me is Lee Harmer of Board staff.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. KEITH:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Gary Keith and I am the general manager of Espanola Regional Hydro.


MR. VLAHOS:  Welcome, Mr. Keith.  Mr. Keith, I don't believe you've been before the Board in a formal hearing, have you?


MR. KEITH:  That's correct, I have never been.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's correct.  We just want you to relax.  We will try to be as informal as we can today.


MR. KEITH:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  So the way it is going to play out is if you have any opening statements, that's fine, and after that Mr. Millar will ask you some questions.


MR. KEITH:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  And any one of us two can jump in to seek clarification on any of your answers, and we may also follow up at the end with some other questions.  Okay?


MR. KEITH:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  And at the end, you'll have the opportunity to have any closing remarks.


MR. KEITH:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  What we call a final submission.


MR. KEITH:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay?  Is that clear?


MR. KEITH:  That's clear.


MR. VLAHOS:  And if we go beyond an hour and a half or so, we'll break for, you know, 15 or 20 minutes.


MR. KEITH:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay?


MR. KEITH:  Yeah.


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you have any opening remarks?


MR. KEITH:  I guess I could start by just giving you a little bit of a background on who I am and where I came from.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry.  I'm sorry, we have to swear you in, so if you just come up to the dias.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Do you swear that the evidence to be given by you to this Board in these proceedings will be the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?  Could you state your name for the record?


MR. KEITH:  Gary A. Keith.  G‑A‑R‑Y, K‑E‑I‑T‑H.

ESPANOLA REGIONAL HYDRO PANEL 1; KEITH:


GARY A. KEITH; Sworn.


MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead, sir.


OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. KEITH:

MR. KEITH:  Okay, I guess just a little bit of an opening statement as to who I am and where I came from.  I've been in the industry for a long time, but I am a tradesperson and not all that familiar with rate-making or financials.  I'm responsible for them and I do know fairly -- bit of detail, a bit of detail, but not an expert at it.  


Again, I started ‑‑ I was with Ontario Hydro for 17 years and I went across to manage Deep River Hydro, which was then sold to Hydro One.  I came to Toronto for a couple of years, and then in the year 2002 I took on the general manager's role at Espanola Regional Hydro.  And when I started there in November 2002, the year end, of course, is the calendar year end and we closed the year and we had a significant loss.  Our loss was $295,000, keeping in mind that our total revenue for the year is just under a million, so it was a significant loss.


And the accountant who was doing the audited statements asked if I could do some detailed looking at how come we had lost so much money.  And we went through everything very, very carefully, and one of the things that we came across was that there was a large discrepancy between our large customers, general service large customers, over 50 kilowatt, and our general service under 50 kilowatt customers.


Espanola is a very small utility.  We only have 3,300 customers, and these 3,300 customers are made up of actually three communities, Webbwood, Massie and Espanola.  And this Espanola Hydro was formed by amalgamating the three into one, so we now have two shareholders.  And when we looked at this rate discrepancy, we went back in time and said:  Was there a rate discrepancy before?  And, no, there wasn't, because of the way the rates were set, and the rates between the communities were relatively close, so there wasn't a big problem there.


So what we found ourselves with is, we're losing money.  We did find some of the problem and corrected it.  And it became very, very obvious that these large customers are really getting a break on the cost of delivering -- the delivery portion of the energy, total cost.  


And to give you some sort of an idea of the magnitude, was like a little grocery store was paying a fifth -- or, pardon me, the big grocery store was paying a fifth of the delivery cost of what the little guy had to pay, so obviously in a small community we have a very big concern that, How can you be competitive?  We only have one large grocery store, and then when you have a little guy trying to start up and the rates are such imbalanced, it caused a great deal of concern for us.  


So that was how we got into the situation.  So, again, I wasn't there when the rates were developed and unbundled and all of the different processes that are used.  I can't comment on really what was done, how it was done, if it's correct or incorrect.  All we know is that financially we cannot survive, and it wasn't equitable to the customer.  So even if we were making money or breaking even, it still was not equitable to the customer, and that was a huge concern of our council.


So, in any event, that's how we came to this point.  And it was at that time, of course, we started the process and we started to ask the Ontario Energy Board, could we have an adjustment to the rate?  And so it started back in 2003 and brings us to this day, finally, to try and get it cleared up.


So I think as an opening, that's really all I have to say, is just sort of how we came to be and my position.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  That's very helpful.  Before I turn things over to Mr. Millar, Mr. Keith, just one question.  You have said that you corrected some of the problems over time.  Now, can you just expand on that?  Did you do that with a Board order or on your own or ‑‑


MR. KEITH:  No, it was on our own.  What had happened was there were several residential customers get -- what we thought were residential customers, they were receiving the residential rate, when, in fact, they should have been charged general service rates.  So here's someone, again, a small town, a little business out of a home.  It fits the definition of falling into general service, but they were getting a break because they were only paying residential rates.  So we took a whole lot of residential-type customers and moved them appropriately into the less than 50 kilowatt class, so that raised a little bit of the income.  


Likewise, there were several customers that were receiving the over 50‑kilowatt rate, when, in fact, they were not over 50‑kilowatt.  Under the definition, they were not over 50‑kilowatt customers.  So by bringing them from the ‑‑ what we call our large customers into our under 50 rate, it again raised revenue.  So that was helpful.


And then the rest of the things were not anything to do with Board orders.  None of this was to do with Board orders.  It was simply on our own, properly following what was laid out, categorizing the customers properly.


MR. VLAHOS:  So there were -- I guess there were issues of eligibility for those customers to be served by those rate --


MR. KEITH:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  -- classifications.  Did you not change the rates themselves?


MR. KEITH:  No, we did not change any rates themselves, just classification.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Mr. Millar.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Keith.


MR. KEITH:  Good morning.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much for giving us a little bit of the background to open the proceedings here.  I know that's helpful for the Board.  Just for the sake of the completeness of the record, however, I'd just like to explore very briefly the process by which you got here.  


I understand that you sent some letters ‑‑ I believe it was under your name, some letters to the Minister of Energy?


MR. KEITH:  That is correct.  We sent -- starting in March, we sent -- March '03, we sent letters to the Ontario Energy Board, and through the follow-up and through, as time passed, it became very evident through a procedure that we had to get the Minister's leave.  So we then, in turn, started to talk with the Minister's office and had correspondence to enable us to get to this point.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And is that why -- I guess, you initially noted the loss in 2002, and now we're into 2005. Was that the reason for the delay?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes, that was definitely the reason.  We had a very keen interest in trying to get this solved as quickly as possible.  And we were just unable to, because of the laws of the land at the time, and the procedure just takes time. And we understand that.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

     So I'd like to get into, sort of, the nuts and bolts of the application now.  I'm going to be referring to a document I hope to have entered as an exhibit.  These are

-- and I know you are familiar with this document, Mr. Keith.  These are the financial statements for Espanola Hydro, all the way back from 2002, I believe -- 2001, pardon me.

     Mr. Keith, are you familiar with this document?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes I am.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I understand -- we spoke before, perhaps, Mr. Chair -- could we have an exhibit number?  I think D1.1?

     MR. VLAHOS:  D?

     MR. MILLAR:  D1.1? 

EXHIBIT D1.1:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ESPANOLA HYDRO FOR FISCAL YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31st 2002, DECEMBER 31st 2003, AND DECEMBER 31st, 2004.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keith, we were chatting before the hearing began this morning, and you told me that there are some changes in these financial statements.  I'm wondering if you could address those for the Board, please.

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.  In 2004, this past month the auditor has gone through and made audited statements.  He prepared them and he took them to the board for review.  And upon reviewing them, I found some error in the statement.

     And it wasn't that the auditor didn't find the error; it's that the auditor was choosing to have it corrected in a way that would not be acceptable to the Ontario Energy Board.  And the way that he was choosing to deal with this issue was to account for all in 2004, rather than correctly restate the statements for 2003.

     The issue is cost of power.  We missed posting cost of power accounts -- some cost of power accounts in 2003, and again in 2004.  We finally, at the end of 2004, caught the error, that there was a wrong posting.  We corrected the -- our books, management's records.  And what happened was, there was a $31,000 change in 2003.  If we would have posted back to 2003, there would be a $31,000 change in the net income and the cost of power. 

     However, the accountant chose, when he made the ‘04 statements, to post everything into '04.  So we took the hit for '03 in'04.  And, of course, for rate-making purposes, it's not acceptable, because the costs have to be associated with the year they were incurred.

     So, we asked the accountant, Would you be willing to restate 2003?  And he said he would be willing.  And the figures that I'm using are actually from him.  For discussion purposes only, he gave us what the '03 and '04 bottom line would look like.  So I'm giving you that number based on his “for discussion” record. 

     And he has stated to me yesterday, as a matter of fact, that he definitely is willing to restate ‘03.  Just -- we have to have a meeting with our board of directors, because they are the ones who have to officially request, Please restate '03.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keith, I think it might be helpful for the Board if we could turn to the page in the document that I just handed out -- or Mr. Harmer just handed out.  And I apologize to the Board, these pages are not paginated.  But this is a page, five pages from the end -- the fifth last page, and it's called, at the top, “Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31st, 2004.”

     MR. VLAHOS:  Fifth page in?  

     MR. MILLAR:  Fifth page from the end. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  From the end. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Again, “Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31st, 2004.”

     Now, Mr. Keith, you just held up a piece of paper, and I couldn't see it clearly.  Was that a photocopy of this page?

     MR. KEITH:  That is a photocopy of this page, correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And could you please -- again, with reference to this page, run through exactly which line items are meant to be changed.

     MR. KEITH:  Okay, under “the cost of energy sold”, in 2003, the number 3,885,560 would be changed to 3,917,012.  And the same line, for 2004, rather than be 4,322,479, the number would now become 4,291,027.

     And then in the gross profit line, immediately below, for 2003, the 1,006,673 would be removed, and it would be replaced with 975,221.  And in '04, the number 923,269 would be replaced with 954,721. 

     And if we go right to the bottom page, net income or loss for the year, the net income in 2003 would change from 158,719.  It would become 127,267.  And the loss of 124,507 would become 93,055.

     And if I've missed any of the old numbers, replaced them, mine's scratched out so -- but the new ones are clear.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Just to be clear, that's a negative number, is it?

     MR. KEITH:  The bracketed number is a negative number, correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Now, Mr. Keith, although we've changed some of the numbers here, just doing the math quickly in my head, am I correct in saying that the net result is still zero?  You've just shifted the cost from one year to another on the books?

     MR. KEITH:  Absolutely correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the bottom line remains the same?

     MR. KEITH:  The bottom line is the same for two years, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Are there any other changes in these financial statements?

     MR. KEITH:  Not that I am aware of, at this time.  I would, you know, expect that -- let’s say we've gone over them pretty carefully.  And it's not to say there wouldn't be a small change, but anything of any significance I'm sure we've not left much chance --

     MR. MILLAR:  So you have no reason to believe that anything in here is inaccurate, aside from those figures we've just discussed.

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     Okay, I'd like to review Espanola Hydro's net income or loss over the past four years.  And again, I apologize to the Board that these pages aren't paginated.  But if you'll bear with me, I would like to start with the year 2002.  And for the Board's convenience, this is probably about ten pages in or so, I would guess, and at the top of the page it says “Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2002.”

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, we have it.

     MR. MILLAR:  You have that?  Thank you.  In fact -- I'll start with 2001, in fact, since it's on that page.  You'll see, if we look at the bottom, the net income or loss for the year, for 2001 we have a number of -- on the positive side, $115,705?

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And then the next year there’s the big loss.  And I believe you discussed that in your opening statement, and that is a loss of 294,749?

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.  And if we move another, probably eight or ten pages into the document, we have -- again it's titled at the top “Statement for Operations for the Year Ended December 31st, 2003.”  And again, there are two columns on that page. On the right-hand side there is 2002, and again, at the bottom, we see that 294,749 number.  And then if we look under 2003, you’re are back on the positive side with a net income of 158,719; is that correct? 

     MR. KEITH:  That is correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And if we move to 2004, again another eight or ten pages into the document, it’s entitled "Statement of Operations for the Year Ended December 31st, 2004."  That's the page we were just referring to, a few moments ago, where the changes were made.  Oh, and I'm sorry, the changes we discussed earlier I guess would reach back into -- into the year -- the year ended December 31st, 2003, because we have that currently marked at as 158,719.


MR. KEITH:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  But as you have discussed, that number actually should be 127,267.


MR. KEITH:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So this change should be on both pages, I guess.


And now when we look at 2004, although the number we see there is minus 124,507, you've just advised us that the correct figure is, in fact, still on the negative side, $93,055?


MR. KEITH:  That is correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  So, Mr. Keith, when we look at the pattern of these statements over the past four or five years, we go from a small gain in 2001, and then there is the fairly significant loss in 2002 of close to $300,000.  In 2003, we're back on the positive side at about $160,000 ‑‑ pardon me, it's actually $127,000 now.  And then in 2004, we are back into the negatives at negative 93,000.  


So it seems, just from a look at these figures, we have a bit of a yo‑yo effect, if I can call it that.  Can you provide us with any explanation as to why we seem to go from ‑‑ I don't want to say feast to famine, but there is a fair amount of swing from year to year in these figures.


MR. KEITH:  Yes, that's fairly straightforward.  I can't speak to 2001 so much, because that was a year that I was not in the utility, but it was just what I would say normal operation of the ‑‑ the utility was profitable in the olden era when we had rates that were bundled.  


In 2002 we, as I discussed, had some of these rate problems, and there were other issues that I was able to come in and solve.  For example, they had to hire outside help to do things that I could now do.  There were some overlapping costs in having two managers for the tail end of 2002, so loss was substantial.  It was a huge loss for us, our size.


In 2003 we made the changes I talked about earlier in my opening statement about moving some customers around from class to class, but one of the most significant things was the way that the utility was now being managed.  Consultants were cut.  I could handle the work with myself and with some help, but the most significant was we realized, or I realized as the new manager, I'm not going to look very well if I don't get this under control and our people ‑‑ again, as a small community, we want our rates to remain low.  That's number 1.  


We don't even talk about paying dividends to the shareholders at this point, simply because that's not an option.  It's not going to be for the foreseeable future.  But what I was able to do, because of my technical background, I was able to go out and take our line forces and go to work in the neighbouring utility, Sudbury Hydro, and I was able to make money with our line crews by bringing them out of our utility and placing them into Sudbury, and that was a tremendous, tremendous help.  And the numbers show that at the end of 2003, we're now ‑‑ we've turned the company around substantially to a positive position.


In 2004, unfortunately, Sudbury Hydro was on strike for four to five months and it was in the good weather, and we basically did no work for Sudbury.  So we lost all of the good revenue stream that we had.  However, we were able to offset it somewhat.  I got a contract, which you may find even a bit interesting.  


We have a contract now with James Bay, Indian communities along the James Bay coast, and there are three different LDCs that -- I'm sure you've probably heard the names, Kashechewan, Fort Albany, and Attawapiskat.  And they are fairly new into the LDC business and they do not have trained technical people to operate their system.  They advertised in the paper.  


We, of course, are looking to take in whatever money we can to keep our books in order and we got the contract.  And we've been working up there for about 26 weeks last year and we have another training contract for this year for about 26 weeks.


So, again, we didn't make as much as Sudbury, but we were able to bring in some extra revenues.  I think --


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Keith.


MS. NOWINA:  May I ask a question, Mr. Keith?  Can you tell me where on the statement of operations that supplemental income shows?


MR. KEITH:  It's just -- in 2003 income statement, it just goes into the general revenue category, "other income."  So if we go back to '03 statements, statement of operations in '03, you will see "other income".  So we've picked up other income in that 2003.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, I don't see "other income."


MR. KEITH:  If you go to the statements of operations, which is about ‑‑ it's for the year ended December 31st, 2003.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. KEITH:  And you look toward the bottom, it says "other income" in bold letters.


MS. NOWINA:  I see, okay.


MR. KEITH:  You will see labour, rental and other -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. KEITH:  Now, a point of clarification that would probably be helpful is, in 2004, we started to operate our companies.  We have a service company on LDC.  They were always there, these two companies, and they were always operated that the service company was taken to a break-even position at the year end.  So if you go back and look at service company statements, you would see that they're break even.  


It is a paper flow thing.  It wasn't meant to be more than that, but because we went to Sudbury so much in 2003, we decided we better split the companies more formally and have the service company stand alone.  So when we talk about our incomes for 2002 and 2003, services was always zero, so what you see is what we made.


But when you hit 2003 and we decided okay, let's split the companies properly, at the beginning -- at the end of '03 and beginning of '04, we actually transferred assets out of LDC into services.  So then we tried to set up a rate ‑‑ when we do the LDC work, we have to charge them a percentage for overheads, and so on, to run our operation on the services side.  So we picked a figure of 25 percent.  That figure will probably be corrected somewhat because I think it's a little low.  


The reason you need to think about that carefully is because when you look at a net loss in 2004 of the corrected amount, which is 93,055, there would not be a loss, but we paid interest on the shareholder's loan of $163,000.  


So if we tried to compare '03 and '04 saying that they're the same statements, we didn't pay any interest on the shareholder's loan in '03.  The reason we paid it in '04 was to avoid income taxes.  It's a paper entry, only, so you have to take 163,000 away from that $93,000 loss, which would put you profitable about $70,000, okay?  Follow that?


MS. NOWINA:  I do, but can I walk you through this ‑‑ I'd like to ‑‑ it's between 2003 and 2004, the statement of operations.


MR. KEITH:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  So the 2003 numbers are assuming that this supplemental service that you did is within those numbers of the LDC.  In 2004, what we're seeing under other income is just the income from that, those supplemental services -- or the profit, rather, from those supplemental services, net revenue?


MR. KEITH:  No.

     MS. NOWINA:  That's not net of their cost?

     MR. KEITH:  No, because in 2004 we still had some other income from our company.  For example, pole rental.  That still is LDC's poles, and it comes in as other income.

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Just to clarify -- what I'm trying to assess here is, you look at the “operation and maintenance” line:  between 2003 and 2004, operation and maintenance goes down a considerable amount.

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MS. NOWINA:  Is that because some of that operation and maintenance is being paid by the other company?

     MR. KEITH:  We're not charging enough overheads in the other company to get back our true cost.  That's probably what has happened. 

     When I say "probably", you could look at it from a different point of view and say, Well, you just charged too much the year before.  And I'm saying, Well, there's got to be a balance.  We're probably a little bit on the low side.  That's why the cost fell in operation and maintenance, because operation and maintenance work is technical work, provided by the services company. 

     MS. NOWINA:  By the services company?

     MR. KEITH:  Right.

     MS. NOWINA:  By the LDC or by the --

     MR. KEITH:  By the services company.

     MS. NOWINA:  Which is the affiliate company.

     MR. KEITH:  Which is the affiliate company.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Are the same people working -- the same people are being shared by the two entities?

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And it's -- the service company's a legal entity?

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Is it a subsidiary of the distribution company, or is it an affiliated sister company?

     MR. KEITH:  There is a holding company, and the holding company has two companies under it: the LDC and the services company.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And that was -- that happened sometime in 2002, you said?  Or 2003?

     MR. KEITH:  When the new market place came to be, we opened up a holding company and the two -- LDC and services.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So that would be in 2002.

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.  2001, end of -- 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. KEITH:  -- '01, beginning of 2000, something like that.  It was right when we had to do all that corporate work to restructure from the old system.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So it wasn't market-opening, as such. It was prior to that.

     MR. KEITH:  Prior to.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And there was some transfer of assets, you mentioned.

     MR. KEITH:  In '04.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So those were the utility assets?

     MR. KEITH:  They were utility assets, LDC-owned assets.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Did you get approval from the Board for that?

     MR. KEITH:  No, because it's not -- it wasn't the, assets, as I understand it, it's not the assets that -- regulatory assets?  It's like bolt-cutters and pliers and a truck.

     MR. VLAHOS:  But those are utility assets.

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And you were advised that you did not need a Board order to do that?

     MR. KEITH:  No, sir, I wasn't advised of that.  But it was my understanding, rightly or wrongly, that, because our service company was formed, the people were already in the services company - the bodies - but the equipment was not.  So there was a couple of hundred thousand dollars in equipment that was transferred from LDC to services.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  I guess my -- those were all utility assets in the books.

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And they were transferred to another legal entity, and without Board approval.

     MR. KEITH:  Correct. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Is that what you're telling us?

     MR. KEITH:  That's what I'm telling you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And there was no question in your mind whether that needs Board approval or not?  That -- you decided it did not need Board approval?

     MR. KEITH:  Well, to be honest, I didn't think that it needed Board approval.  There was never really discussion at our level.  We talked to our auditor, and we say to the auditor, Okay, well -- he agrees we need to separate out the two companies, more defined.  And so we made that change, rightly or wrongly - it seems, now, that it could be wrongly - but, at the time, we never even gave it a second thought.  We thought that that was acceptable.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  And your current rates, the rates that you have been charging now, the first time they were unbundled for Espanola were when?  I know there have been some incremental changes over time for regulatory assets, et cetera. 

     MR. KEITH:  When the market opened?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. KEITH:  In 2001, that's when rates were unbundled.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  At that time, those assets were utility assets.

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And there was certain income -- certain other income that would be from rental revenues, for example, but not necessarily from service-contract work.

     MR. KEITH:  We did service-contract work, but it was done under the LDC when we first started.  We had a service company formed --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  No, I understand that, okay.  So presumably, then, the first time you unbundle the rates, and you’re not -- there --   

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- the first time Espanola unbundled its rates, there would be some recognition of what is other income for the purpose of setting rates?

     MR. KEITH:  I don't -- I don't believe that to be the case.  What I believe to be the case is that, when they would look at the rates, they would look at the dollars of income that go strictly toward rate issues.  I don't think there was -- they never would have taken in -- I -- other income from service work, because they didn't do service work.

     MS. NOWINA:  So, for further clarification, until 2000 -- well, until 2004, the cost and the income for the supplemental service was going directly into the books of the utility; is that correct?  Utility was getting the benefit of those services that were being offered to Sudbury?

     MR. KEITH:  The utility -- I'm just trying to be careful --

     MS. NOWINA:  Sure, absolutely. 

     MR. KEITH:  -- of what I'm telling you --

     MS. NOWINA:  Take your time.

     MR. KEITH:  I can say this.  We ran our services company to break even.  So we did have a service company.  The employees were in the service company.  So we made sure that, whatever work we did -- when we came to work that day, whether it was Sudbury or to work for the LDC, the time -- the pay cheques were written out of services. 

     We needed money.  We took it from LDC, because we were doing their work.  Okay?  When we went to Sudbury, we would take Sudbury's money into services, but we didn't have any trucks in services.  So we would use the trucks out of the LDC.  Well, now we've got to rent them from the LDC.  So there was all this bookkeeping taking place.  That's when we decided, It's way too confusing, so what we should probably do is move the vehicles over to services, and then we would just bill back to LDC the work -- for the work that we do for them.  And we'll bill to Sudbury for the work we do to them, and all money will flow through services.

     MS. NOWINA:  To where?  So the money -- in the current situation, the profit being made by the services company, where does that flow to?

     MR. KEITH:  Into the services company.

     MS. NOWINA:  Into the services company, which is to the holding company.   And it doesn't go back to ratepayers in any way?

     MR. KEITH:  No.

     MS. NOWINA:  And so the holding company - which is the municipalities; is that correct?  

     MR. KEITH:  Yes. 

    
MS. NOWINA:  - is getting that income?

     MR. KEITH:  It’s a loss right now.

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

     MR. KEITH:  The first year is a $75,000 loss.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. KEITH:  And that's why, when I was going through trying to explain how this was a loss --

     MS. NOWINA:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. KEITH:  And I said, Well, not really, because we took the $163,000 that was paid to avoid paying income tax -- we actually profited 70,000 in LDC.  So just take that paper entry out of the picture for a minute, we profited 70 in LDC, but we lost 75 in services.  So if you put the two back together again, the way we used to do it, we're actually -- I'll call it “break even”.  It’s about a $3,000 or $4,000 loss.

     MS. NOWINA:  So $163,000 of this expense line that says "financials" -- is that where that interest payment is?  Is that for 2004?

     MR. KEITH:  In 2004, we paid interest to the shareholders.  If you look in the notes to the statements, you will see a notation, I believe.  I can show you the line.  If you look at your statement of operations.


MS. NOWINA:  Mm-hmm.


MR. KEITH:  And you look at the sheet, December 31st, 2004.


MS. NOWINA:  Mm-hmm.


MR. KEITH:  Look under “Expenses”, look at “Financial.”


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MR. KEITH:  And in 2004 we only had $445 in financial, and then in '04, that's the 100 -- and it just happens to be 173, but it is actually 163 that was paid as interest on the loan, on the shareholder's loan.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Keith, just before we leave this area, how many employees does ‑‑ let me be careful here.  You are talking about two different companies now, two different legal entities, services and utility.  How many employees in services?


MR. KEITH:  Myself as a manager and seven others.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. KEITH:  And when I say seven others, one of the others is part-time.








MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, those seven ‑‑ and you are also the general manager of the utility?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So you are employed by both companies?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  And how many utility employees, including yourself?


MR. KEITH:  I see everybody as in services, and we provide our management service to the LDC.  That's how I see it.


MR. VLAHOS:  So the utility itself, it is virtually ‑‑ well, I should be careful.  Strike that out.  The utility has no employees of its own, but, rather, they've been ‑‑ what's the word I'm looking for?  It's the services company that provides the service for the utility?


MR. KEITH:  That's correct, but I believe -- for clarification, I believe if you went right into the heart of the bookwork ‑‑ well, when everything was created, it probably says in there that the manager works for the holding company, the LDC and the services company.  That's what it probably states.  


So you would see that the manager is in charge of managing each one of them companies, but, in reality, I'm paid out of services and we charge back to LDC for my time.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mm-hmm.  And who has decided how to allocate those, for example, employee costs to the two entities?


MR. KEITH:  Our auditor.  We spoke to the auditor and asked, you know, How do we do this?  How do we split things apart?  It was with his help that he gave us direction to help us set it up.  It was a joint effort.


MR. VLAHOS:  And that happened when --


MR. KEITH:  At the --


MR. VLAHOS:  -- again?


MR. KEITH:  -- all of the discussions on what we should be doing at the end of 2003, and in 2004, January the 1st, we said, Okay, assets are going to move from LDC over to services.  And when I say “assets", we bought them.  The service company purchased them, so it's on the books as a purchase and we purchased the assets.  Services purchased the assets from LDC.


MR. VLAHOS:  Do you recall the basis upon which the value was calculated?


MR. KEITH:  Yes, the value of the assets was taken at book value.


MR. VLAHOS:  Book value.  And since January 1st, 2004, was there any opportunity for Espanola to be before the Board.  I don't mean physically here at a hearing, but someone to examine the financial statements and the rate-making consequences of that change?


MR. KEITH:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  No.  So the only changes you received is part of this normal pass-through, if you like, the first MAR, second MAR, and there is no third MAR, I understand.


MR. KEITH:  When it comes to rates, we have not been able to ask for a new rate that everyone else has been able to ask for.  So...


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, what do you mean by "you've not been able to"?


MR. KEITH:  Well, I'm sure I'll be corrected if I'm wrong, but the way I understand it is everybody was given an opportunity to make a rate application that would be effective April 1st, 2005, and that would be for management plans.  They would get some money and they would get the third tranche of costs that were set up on our books, and so on.  LV charges or specific use charges that now Hydro One are passing on to us, we would get a chance to recover that from our customer.  


We couldn't make that application, and the reason we couldn't make the application was I had Sudbury's person come over to help us, because, again, I'm not a rate-making person, and we sat down.  We went through everything and it turned out that we had to raise the rates to our residential customers, according the format that was laid out, that we had to fill out. 


We had to raise our rates for the residential customers approximately 6-1/2 to 7 percent.  We had to raise the rates to the under 50‑kilowatt customers about the same amount, 6 percent, and we had to decrease the rates to our largest customers by 1 or 2 percent.  So as you can see, we're getting into this ‑‑ we're even making a problem more between the two rate classes.


So because the forms ‑‑ I don't know why that happened like that, but because that took place, we called down.  We gave our application that we had prepared.  We submitted it and said, Have a look at it, but this isn't right.  There's problems here.  


And it was decided that what we should do, because this matter was coming up, is, Let's clear up this rate problem, and then put these rates into the formula and, perhaps, that will be of some help in moving forward to getting and making application for this new round of rates for '05.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Millar, sorry about that.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  I may jump in again, though.


MR. MILLAR:  No, I've been in enough hearings with you, Mr. Chair, to know that you're not afraid to speak your mind, so please feel free to interrupt at any moment.


MR. VLAHOS:  You are saying that positively, are you?


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  That's a good thing.  It is less work for me.  So, Mr. Keith, just to follow up on a couple of those issues, again, I'm sorry to go back to this, but if we look at the "other income" entry - and this is again looking at the statements for 2004 and 2003 - there's a $100,000 difference in that top item, from 150 to 50,000, approximately.  


And if I understood you correctly, you indicated that that loss, at least part of the difference there is because there was a strike at Sudbury Hydro and they required less of your services; is that correct?


MR. KEITH:  Partially correct.  If you look at this company only, LDC, the reason there's such a drop is because we are not bringing all of the other income into the LDC.  We are now bookkeeping it in services for '04.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So part of that is a result of less work at Sudbury?


MR. KEITH:  If you look at our service company, yes.  You would see clearer --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. KEITH:  -- that that's why we loss money in the service company.


MR. MILLAR:  And I assume that that strike is now over?


MR. KEITH:  It is.


MR. MILLAR:  So do you anticipate ‑‑ I presume most of your work is over the summer months for Sudbury?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you anticipate that you will be getting more work from them this year, in 2005, than you did in 2004?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So that that number might be expected to rise again in 2005?


MR. KEITH:  That number, itself, wouldn't necessarily rise in LDC, but it would rise in the services company.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  And, again, you mentioned some contracts in the James Bay region with the three native communities.  Does any of that ‑‑ just to be clear, are all of those contracts from fiscal 2005?


MR. KEITH:  There was a contract that we completed in '04.  Now we have got a contract for '05.  Well, we're in the middle.  They've offered it to us.  We have to decide whether or not it is worth our effort to take it, like, financially.


MR. MILLAR:  So is any of the money from the 2004 contract reflected in the 2004 numbers that we have before us?


MR. KEITH:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And would any of the -- let's presume you accept the contract, would any of that money appear on the utilities books?

     MR. KEITH:  No. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And I just wanted to be clear, when we look at the -- Ms. Nowina directed your attention, under “expenses”, to the financial line item, and, again, we see the enormous swing from $445 to $173,000.  You indicated that the bulk of that was a $163,000 interest payment.

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Is that a one-time payment?  Will that payment be made in 2005?

     MR. KEITH:  It depends on how our income tax situation is.

     MR. MILLAR:  So maybe yes, and maybe no?

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Do you have an idea if it is more likely than not?  Or is it just too early to tell?

     MR. KEITH:  It is much too early to tell, because I believe there has to be some adjustments between the service company and the LDC.  Like our overhead charge back to the LDC, I believe, at 25 percent, is not high enough.  Therefore, you can see we've lost money in services.  And if we wouldn't have made that interest payment, we would have made money in LDC.  Put together, we still lost money, or broke even.

     MR. MILLAR:  And even if we take into account that $163,000 interest payment, you still spent close to -- about $10,000 more in 2004 and 2003 on financial items.  Could you give the Board some idea why that increase?

     MR. KEITH:  No, I really -- I can't speak to that.  I am not sure -- I know I thought of that question myself, when we were going through the statements.  And I never got back to asking why the $10,000 -- it's higher by $10,000.  I'm sorry, I can't answer that.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 

     And just to be -- just to make it crystal clear, this $163,000 it -- it shows up on the books, but you've indicated that, really, if you take that away, the utility side, at least, was in a profitable position for 2004?

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     MR. KEITH:  And maybe just -- I can comment -- because I can't give you exactly, but that financial expense, I'm -- I know it's probably got something to do with some carrying charges that we faced from our bank.  Because our cash flow was -- is completely gone.  We don't have cash in the bank, and I think that some of them charges probably are reflected in that number.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Millar.

     Mr. Keith, maybe those are fair questions, but I'm not an accountant, I'm a regulator.  And I cannot help think, if you have this interest payment -- are the expenses that not -- may not necessarily coincide with the way that the Board sets rates.  That is -- that is part of the cost of capital.  So are you familiar with the difference between accounting financial statements and rate-making?  Are you familiar enough with those two concepts?

     MR. KEITH:  I believe I'm pretty familiar with them, yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So Mr. Millar was asking whether this is a sort of a one-time payment.  And I guess the fallout question is, if you were to do a presentation based on rate base, net income for the company and rate base and cost of capital, which determines revenue requirement, would you view that this $173,000 would be recognized for regulatory purposes?

     MR. KEITH:  No, it would not be.

     MR. VLAHOS:  It would not be.  Therefore, the $124,000 you’re showing -- I'm sorry, now its $93,000 for 1994 (sic), it is not -- you recognize it is not necessarily -- it does not necessarily mean that there was a negative return on the common equity component of the utility?

     MR. KEITH:  Absolutely.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You recognize that.

     MR. KEITH:  Understood.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And are you in a position to advise the Board as to what is that rate of return that is associated with the 1994 (sic) statements?

     MR. KEITH:  I -- I'm not familiar enough to tell what you the rate of return is.  But what I would tell you is, even if I could give you that number for 2004, I would tell you that it's probably wrong.  And the reason it's wrong is not because of the 163,000.  Take that aside.  That's tax purposes, that's why that's done.  

     It's like -- likewise, other things in here.  I was very surprised.  We have two sets of accounting rules, one for tax purposes and one for OEB purposes.  And no place do they get separated.  And I see that -- and I understand that fully.  And that's why I’m agreeing that I understand that the 163 is not going to be part of rate-making.  

     Likewise, there are other things on how you depreciate assets, different for tax purposes than for EOB purposes.  My tax returns look different than my financial statements.  I have a problem with that in just trying to logically follow it all.  It’s confusing to someone who isn't --

     MR. VLAHOS:  But presumably all of that is sorted out when you fill those -- those forms --

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.     

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- to set rates.

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.     


     MR. VLAHOS:  I don't know what we call them these days.  We started with RAD and now it's RAM.

     MR. KEITH:  RAM.     

     MR. VLAHOS:  So you have not gone through that exercise to find out as to what is the revenue requirement for the utility and, saying the same thing, what is the -- any deficiency -- revenue deficiency for the utility?  You haven't done that.

     MR. KEITH:  Well, we went through it in 2005 --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, you said that.

     MR. KEITH:  -- but we never -- and I did submit it, but I submitted it only as a discussion paper, because we have this -- still this problem:  they're asking us to lower our large customer rates, which makes no sense.  But we were not -- when that happened, we made these rates again, because I'm not an expert on rates, at the table: myself, my financial person from the office, our auditor and the rate-making person from Sudbury.  So that's how it came to be.  

     And, you know, we obviously sit there, honestly, with each other and say, you know, “I have a part to add”, “I can help with this part of it” and so on.   We go around the table and these things get you know, very well-discussed. 

     And so I just -- the reason I'm saying this rate of return -- I have a problem with that rate of return because I think that the LDC should not have profited.  Likewise, the truth is services shouldn't have come in with a $175,000 loss.  Because every piece of work that we did outside went up -- we made money.  So, if we're making money for the outside work, that means the only other work we did was for the LDC:  how come we lost money?  It's because we're not charging enough to the LDC for the work that we're doing.  But because it was a brand new process - this was the very first year - to get everything perfectly in place is an issue.  That, again, will become an issue for rate-setting, but I think it's pretty evident that we were being very cautious, not trying to over-bill the LDC to inflate some costs to try and get a rate set.  In fact, we did exactly the opposite to hurt ourselves again.  So --

     MR. VLAHOS:  But you're here today for rate-making purposes.  You are asking the Board to adjust rates.

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And I'm trying to understand -- on what grounds?  Is it, the utility is losing money --

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- the utility is not making a lot of money?  What is it, it's losing money?

     MR. KEITH:  The utility is losing money.  If we did not go out and do work with our services company, we wouldn't be having this discussion today.  We'd have the sale sign on the door.  You might as well give the keys to Hydro One or Sudbury Hydro, because we can't run it.  There's no money.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keith, I've just done some very quick calculations.  I'm wondering if you can tell me if you think they're correct.  

     If I'm looking at the net loss that you have on the books for 2004 of $93,055: if we take away the portion of that -- the $163,000 that was for the interest payment, the net result would be a positive net income of $69,945; is that correct?

     MR. KEITH:  I would say that's pretty good math.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So just under $70,000.

     So, for rate-making purposes, as Mr. Vlahos has indicated, your net income for the year is just under $70,000.

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.  But, again, I have a problem with that number, from the point of view that services -- here's our financial statements.  Our financial statement has been bundled in one package, Holdco, LDC and services.  And in the bundle, when you flip into 2004, we lost $76,066.


So if you take that against your profit of 69, a 76 loss, we're six or $7,000 loss, and I'm saying this company here, every bit of work we did outside made us money.  Why did we end up with a loss?  Because we're not allocating enough money back to the LDC.


MR. MILLAR:  And, sorry, which company lost the $76,000?


MR. KEITH:  The services company.


MR. MILLAR:  The services company.  And both these corporations are held by the Municipality?


MR. KEITH:  Correct.  They are both under the holding company.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Keith, I've done, again, some more calculations.  Actually, Mr. Harmer did these calculations, and I'm going to be putting another exhibit to you.  I'll be getting into the meat of it a little bit later, but there is just one figure I wanted to go over with you.  And I'm ‑‑ you may already have a copy of this, but if not, Mr. Harmer can provide it to you.  What we have here is a chart showing --


MR. VLAHOS:  Make that Exhibit D1.2, please.


MR. MILLAR:  D1.2, Mr. Chairman.  

EXHIBIT NO. D1.2:  CALCULATIONS PREPARED BY MR. HARMER.

MR. MILLAR:  This is an exhibit showing the 16 customers in the general service over-50‑kilowatt rate class, and what Mr. Harmer has done some calculations showing their current bill under the current rate, which is one point ‑‑ the fixed rate, fixed portion of the rate, 1.25 dollars per kilowatt, and then with the proposed increase.  And what he's done is ‑‑ I'll get into these figures a little bit later.  He's shown the percentage increase.


But if we look at the bottom, the bottom line where we see the total, we have -- currently the income from that is $1,052,092.49, and if this proposed increase is approved by the Board, we would have $1,123,895.94.  Does that look accurate to you?


MR. KEITH:  That looks accurate.


MR. MILLAR:  So, again, by my math, that's an increase in revenue for Espanola Hydro of $71,803.50 for 2005.


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that correct?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  When I originally framed these questions, I was looking at the $124,000 that had originally been the loss for 2004, so my numbers will be a little bit off, but I think the questions still stand.  


If we look at your current loss of $93,000, although I understand that that takes into account the $163,000 interest payment, even if we add the 71,000 ‑‑ in fact, I'm starting to answer my own questions, as I've heard your answers before, but I'll let you answer them. 


Even if we add this $71,800 that you would get in additional revenue, you still haven't made up all of that loss, and I'm wondering if you could comment on that or if you could explain where you ‑‑ how you intend to make up the rest of the difference?  And I think you've partially explained this already, but let me put that to you so you have an opportunity to connect all the dots for us.


MR. KEITH:  Well, first, there is still this problem with this $163,000, so if we look at rate-making purposes, you have to take that off, which we figured out we would have had a profit situation of approximately 69,000.  


So having a profit of 69,000, but then a loss of 77,000 in services, if we hadn't have separated the companies, if we would have kept them the same, that means this year we would have completed the year with a loss of approximately six or 7,000 bucks.  So this increase would help us.  


We wouldn't be in the hole six or 7,000.  We would now be showing a profit of the difference; 70,000 minus six or $60,000 we would have as a profit number.  And bear in mind that that $70,000 profit or $60,000 profit would still only exist if we continued to do the James Bay work and the Sudbury work, and that type of thing.  The minute ‑‑ and we don't have a choice right now.  We have to go out and do it, so we struggle at our utility to get manpower ‑ we've only got four guys, four line men - to send them out and keep them working, keep our utility lights on. 


People were very reluctant to let us go out of the community to start with, and we said, Look, folks, we don't have a choice.  We can't even break even.


So if you want to compare that $60,000 profit, stop the work outside, we'll be back in the hole again.  So this will not fully bring us to a profit situation.  We'll still have to continue with our outside contracts.


MR. MILLAR:  Right, but all things remaining equal, assuming you retain those contracts or some other similar contracts, it would push from you a break -- from a slight loss of about five or $6,000, I believe you said, to, I guess, 71,000, so approximately a profit of $65,000?


MR. KEITH:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Over a full year?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  That would -- I assume that you applied that rate for the whole year?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Have you -- has Espanola Hydro conducted any forecasts for what they anticipate their net income or loss to be for 2005?  And I guess there's two scenarios:  One, assuming there is no new rate change, and the second scenario would be assuming there is a rate change.


MR. KEITH:  We haven't done a formal estimation of that, but we know from this year we did lose between the two companies.  We lost money, and that was with the ‑‑ still working the James Bay contract.  Sudbury, we don't know how much work we'll get.  That's the problem.  I asked them at the beginning of the year, How much work can you give us?  They don't know, because they have issues with -- they're buying things, and so on and so forth, and they're not sure how much dollars they'll have to do work.  So they won't give us a firm answer.  


It's a very difficult ‑‑ we just hope ‑‑ we sit there and just hope for the phone to ring.  That's...


MR. MILLAR:  Given that they're not in a strike position this year as they were in last year, would you anticipate that the revenues from Sudbury would increase this year?


MR. KEITH:  We definitely know that we'll get more work than last year, because last year we got zero.  This year they've already given me a job for $30,000, so it's a start.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are already ahead of where you were last year from Sudbury?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.  The impact ‑‑ if I may add, the impact is significant when you look at going to work outside for others, because not only do you ‑‑ we might only profit, for example, off our James Bay contract.  The company might only show a profit for $10,000, but we've taken a body off our payroll onto another, so we not only made a profit of ten; we dropped 40,000 in expenses for that body.  So it's a net effect of 50.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Okay, I'd like to move on to some questions of the rate increase itself or the proposed rate increase itself.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, I wonder if this is a convenient time to break for about 20 minutes?


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, yes, absolutely.


MR. VLAHOS:  We'll be back.


--- Recess taken at 10:28 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:00 a.m.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar.     

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair. 

     Mr. Keith, when we adjourned for the break, we were just about to get into the amount of the rate increase, so I just have a couple of questions on that issue for you. 

     First of all, could you -- I have another exhibit I'd like to enter.  If, Mr. Harmer, you could assist me and pass it to the Board and Mr. Keith. 

     Mr. Keith, you may have this, as well. 

     If this could be Exhibit D1.3, Mr. Chair?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT D1.3:  CHART COMPARING MONTHLY SERVICE CHARGES AND VARIABLE DOLLARS-PER-KILOWATT RATES FOR ESPANOLA HYDRO AND NEIGHBOURING UTILITIES.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keith, as you'll see, this is a comparison -- a chart comparing the monthly service charge and the variable dollars-per-kilowatt rate for Espanola Hydro and a number of neighbouring utilities.  And can you see there are three entries for Espanola Hydro:  the .777 cent rate, which is the old rate; the current rate of 1.25, $1.25; and the proposed rate of 3.12. 

     So, Mr. Keith, I am wondering if you could help me, if you could let the Panel know how you arrived at the figure of $3.12 for the variable charge?

     MR. KEITH:  Okay, what we did was pretty simple logic.   Simply, we did some analysis on what rates used to be for our general service customers.  And because they were bundled rates, basically, it's safe to say that the rates were identical for both groups, because there was no split.  It was just zero to 5,000 kilowatts.  That was the category that everyone fell into.  And, of course, depending on your usage, yes, you would pay a slightly different amount, but there was none of this under-50 and over-50.

     So these two grocery stores, if I may use an analysis, now we have one that uses under 50 kilowatts and we have one that uses over 50 kilowatts.  If you look at the old world, they were paying the same -- basically, the same rates.  So why would we want to separate the rates?  And when you do the analysis and you take a look at comparing the two grocery stores -- if you look in our filing, you will see that one store, the large store -- I believe my figures -- and I'm just -- I know they're not exact, but we delivered over a certain time period 4.8M kilowatt-hours to one grocery store, and to another grocery store we delivered about 800,000 kilowatt-hours.  So significant difference in what we delivered.  Yet the guy who received the 800,000 kilowatts paid more than the guy that received 4.8M kilowatt-hours.  There is just no real logic to have that.

MR. MILLAR:  So I understand you felt a need – there

was a need for a change in that rate.  Was there any magic to the number of $3.12?  How did you arrive at that particular figure?

MR. KEITH:  Simply arrived at, we took a look at where

we used to sit on the chart.  We looked at our neighbours.  Greater Sudbury Hydro and PUC in Sault Ste. Marie.  And PUC in Greater Sudbury, if you look at a chart and you compare their under-50 and over-50, they’re almost side-by-side on the provincial chart.  And all Espanola did is say, Well, we used to be there with them.  We don't know why we're not now.  Our under-50 rate is there.  It was, in our opinion, set according to, sort of, the old rates.  Why did, all of a sudden, the large rate fall right to the bottom?  So, by adjusting it to the 3.12, we are bringing ourself into the area -- okay, it's not, you know, not high, but it’s right into the immediate area.  And that was the only logic that we used.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I think that the chart we have here shows that among neighbouring utilities there is a range, but it appears $3.12 is more or less in the middle there.  I mean, some are higher and some are lower, but 3.12 does fit into that chart.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, maybe, just for the record, we have it as low as 55 cents versus $3.12 that is your proposal, Mr. Keith?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And the next number after 55 cents is 90 cents.  If I were to count -- maybe, Mr. Millar, if you could count -- maybe -- can you just ask Mr. Keith to just go through for us, as to how many are below and how many are above the 3.12?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.

     Mr. Keith, perhaps you could help us.  Your proposed figure of $3.12 -- could you please highlight the utilities on this chart that are -- that charge a lower rate than that? 

     MR. KEITH:  Okay.  There would be Chapleau Utilities that have a lower rate.  They're at 90 cents.  And then there would be -- and when I'm looking at the rate, keep in mind, I'm only looking at the volumetrics --

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.

     MR. KEITH:  If I add the two together there’s a significant swing in how it would look.  Because, for example, Great Lakes Power, they have a fixed rate of 583.  I’m only 107.  So when we looked at it, we looked at it factoring both in, which -- the customer has to pay both.

     MR. MILLAR:  Of course --

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  -- and those are all on the chart --

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  -- as you can see.

     MR. KEITH:  But Great Lakes Power has a lower rate, 247.  North Bay Distribution has a rate 2.11.  Northern Ontario Wires of 1.94.  Ottawa Power of 2.15, and West Nipissing of 55 cents.

     MR. MILLAR:  And could you please highlight the utilities that have a higher variable rate?

     MR. KEITH:  There would be PUC, $4.07.  There would be Greater Sudbury of $3.83

     MR. MILLAR:  And in fairness to you, Mr. Keith, you did mention that the monthly service charge is something that the customers have to pay, as well.  As I look at this chart, I see -- first, you are not proposing any changes to that rate.

     MR. KEITH:  That is correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And, as I look at the chart, I only see one utility that has a lower monthly service charge than Espanola Hydro, and that would be West Nipissing Energy Services Limited? 

     MR. KEITH:  That is correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And they have a very lower rate of $30, whereas yours is $107 --

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  -- but the rest of the utilities have a higher monthly charge.

     MR. KEITH:  Right.

     MR. MILLAR:  And if this rate increase were to be approved, it would -- correct me if I'm wrong, it would more than double the variable component of the charge --

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR: -- for that rate class.  And if we look back to 2002-2003, it was only 77 cents, so we are looking at something like quadruple, from 2002-2003.

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And are you proposing to increase rates for any other classes?

     MR. KEITH:  No, we're not.  Just this class.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

     If I could refer you to Exhibit D1.2, which we entered before the break.  Have you had an opportunity to look at this chart?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes I have.

     MR. MILLAR:  It was produced by Mr. Harmer.  And I believe he just took all of your own figures there.  So, do you see any problems with the numbers here?

     MR. KEITH:  No, I do not.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if we look at this chart, we have all -- as I understand, there are 16 customers in the over-50-kilowatt class?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And we have them listed here, just by number, but without a name?

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at the percentage increase - which is the column on the far right side - when I look at it, I see the impacts range from 5.08 percent, which is customer 14, all the way up to 11.92 percent, for customer no. 4.

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And then, if we look at the bottom line, the totals -- if you add up all of the numbers, the percentage increase is 6.82 percent.

     MR. KEITH:  Correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  I'd like to look a little more carefully at customer no. 4.  The 11.92 percent increase is a bit of an anomaly on this chart.  I think it's more than three full percentage points higher than the next highest one, which appears to be customer no. 12 at 9.62.  Can you give the Board any indication why this particular customer seems to have a significantly higher percentage increase than any of the others?

     MR. KEITH:  I'm not sure of the name of this particular customer.  I'd have to do a little bit of digging to find the name.  Because I'm so close to the customers, I know off-hand who is who.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Keith, make sure you don't say the name here.  It’s transcribed, so --

     MR. KEITH:  Okay.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- we'll call them “customer no. 4".

     MR. KEITH:  Okay, “customer no. 4".  I'm not totally familiar, but there is a transformer allowance that's involved and I'm not sure how the transformer allowance fits into Mr. Harmer's figure.  And -- 


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.  Carry on, I'm sorry.


MR. KEITH:  And perhaps Mr. Harmer could tell me how the transformer allowance fits into ‑‑ is this a customer ‑‑ is the transformer allowance, would it be affecting that number at all?  


MR. HARMER:  I don't know, I'm sorry, Mr. Keith.  I just took your information, the evidence that you provided with ‑‑ if it's of any assistance, customer number 4 is exactly the same ‑‑ the ordering which we show here, 1 through 16, is exactly the same ordering as you had originally given us.


MR. KEITH:  All right.  If you give me a second, I will just look it up in ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Keith, maybe if I can be of help, hopefully, is this customer characterized by a very low load factor?


MR. KEITH:  It could be.


MR. VLAHOS:  Can we check that?  Is it possible for you to check that in your ‑‑ is he a seasonal customer?


MR. KEITH:  I'll know in a second.  This customer is not seasonal.  This customer has fallen below 50 kilowatts on a couple of occasions during the period that I'm looking at, and that's about an 11-month period, and in summer months -- and then they go up.


MR. VLAHOS:  It's a pattern of use that I was looking for, not necessarily the total consumption, because we're looking at demand charges here.  So you can agree with me it is the pattern of use as opposed to the total?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Total volume.  Can you ascertain from the evidence there that this customer is the lowest load factor compared to the others ‑‑ to the other 15?


MR. KEITH:  It is very difficult for me to tell that from the information that I have in front of me.  I can't ascertain that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keith, it may help you.  Mr. Harmer has conducted some calculations, and the Chair asked about the load factor.  And by our calculations, the load factor for customer number 4 is, indeed, the smallest, and it's at .240, and Mr. Harmer did these calculations.  He certainly knows ‑‑ he's much better able to arrive at these numbers than I am.  


Does that figure sound correct to you, or would you like me to put the numbers to you and perhaps you could ‑‑


MR. KEITH:  Again, I personally wouldn't have a problem with that number.  I'm sure that that, more likely than not, is the answer, that the load factor is such that --


MR. MILLAR:  If we assume that this particular customer did have a particularly low load factor, would that account for the high percentage increase that they're shown to have?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And would there be any steps that the utility could take to work with this customer to, perhaps, try and make their load more even -- or, pardon me, increase their load factor or something of that nature, to assist this particular customer, who is showing the very high percentage increase compared to the other customers?


MR. KEITH:  Certainly we could have a look with them and see what we could do for them, but it may also be helpful to note that this customer has volunteered to pay this rate on their own free accord.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, because I know ‑‑ when we look at these percentages, the Board may well be concerned with the one sort of anomalous increase here, and the other ones are typically between five, eight, eight-and-a-half.  One is all the way up to nine, but they are still well below almost 12 percent, which is what this customer number 4 indicates.


So are you indicating that the utility would be willing to work with this customer to see if there would be ways to reduce that increase for them?


MR. KEITH:  Certainly.  Likewise, any customer that we have, we would work with them --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. KEITH:  -- I feel.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, you mentioned earlier that you weren't proposing to increase the rates for any other customer classes?


MR. KEITH:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I believe you gave us a little bit of background as to why you selected this particular rate and this particular customer class, but just for the benefit of the record, could you please indicate for the Board why you selected this customer class?


MR. KEITH:  We selected the customer class based on history, based on the two ‑‑ I'll just refer to them as general service class.  The two general service class customers always paid relatively the same rate, and when market changes were made and we were to come up with new rates, for whatever reason, these general service customers were now split, one at the very bottom and one over the provincial average.  And it was just an inequity amongst the customers and we felt very strongly that there is definitely a problem.  


And we -- in fact, we met with these customers to deal with the issues and let them know that, you know, we weren't trying to pick on them, but you have to remember, again, that we're a very small town.  Everybody knows everybody.  We all belong to the same Chamber of Commerce, and we sit at the Chamber of Commerce, which I am a member of myself.  


We sit at the Chamber of Commerce table and we talk about our businesses and costs, and so on, and it is embarrassing for myself to be there knowing that one person is paying proportionately more than the other and it is the bigger guy getting the advantage.  


So, you know, with all these feelings - and we talk about these things at our Board meetings - it was felt very strongly that, you know, we immediately had to let the big customers know, and we did that.  And, you know, they are very aware of the situation.  So, like I say, I wasn't picking on anyone.


And our rates are no ‑‑ all of our neighbours have higher rates than we do.  Hydro One, Sudbury, they're higher, or, if they're not higher, we are almost tied.  So it was just logics, the people and where we are located, and I picked this class.


MR. MILLAR:  So you've indicated that you looked around at the neighbouring utilities and found that your charge for this particular customer class was below what the other utilities were charging?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Did you undertake that analysis with any of the other customer classes?  For example, did you look at what your residential rates were compared to PUC or West Nipissing, or whomever?


MR. KEITH:  Yes, we did.


MR. MILLAR:  And what did you find?


MR. KEITH:  We found our residential rates are on the low end of the scale, so we compared all of the utilities in northern Ontario; and that is we break them up into districts.  And all of the utilities in northern Ontario put onto the chart - there is approximately 12 to 14 of them - we are the fourth lowest on that chart, so our residential --


MR. MILLAR:  For residential?


MR. KEITH:  For residential.  So our residential rate is a low rate, but it was always in that neighbourhood.  We were always, you know, the net make-up of the rates.


MR. MILLAR:  Is there any reason, therefore, that you decided to put all of the increase on the general service over 50 rather than residential, where it appears that both of them are charged sort of currently below the norm?


MR. KEITH:  No.  Again, we compared where they used to be, and the business customers in Espanola have always been at the same rate as, approximately, Sudbury or Sioux PUC, and that's back for a number of years.  We've always been relatively at the same amount.  And our under 50 customer is there, but this large customer has just plummeted right off the scale.  So that -- again, that's what our reasoning was for looking at that 50 over rate class.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just a moment, if I may.  Mr. Keith, you spoke about the history of rates in terms of at least those two groups.  Have you looked at the cost causation, whether one customer classification is paying more relative to the cost that it causes the utility?  Have you looked at the cost allocation issues, at all?


MR. KEITH:  I looked at cost allocation based on history, so I took 1998 figures and compared 1998 -- took a number of utilities.  In particular, our neighbouring ones were --


MR. VLAHOS:  No, I'm talking about ‑‑ maybe I didn't make myself clear.  Has Espanola undertaken a cost allocation study of any sort, in the last three or four years?

     MR. KEITH:  No.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. MILLAR:  And just to follow up on that point, we've seen the rates charged by the other utilities.  As far as you are aware, are these based on up-to-date cost allocation studies, or are they probably done in a similar manner that yours was?

     MR. KEITH:  I would I assume that they’re a similar manner, because I know one of the people that went around helping some of the smaller utilities was the same individual.  So I imagine the thinking was the very same.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So as far as you're aware, these are not based on formal cost allocation studies.

     MR. KEITH:  Again, I wasn't there three or four years ago, so I can only speak back to since I came on Board.  Not in my time.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

     You've asked in your application that -- if these new rates are approved, that they apply retroactively?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And what date did you choose -- when would you like them to apply from?

     MR. KEITH:  We're asking that we have a reply back March the 1st, 2003.  And the reasoning for that is, that is when we made our approach to the Board, indicating we have a serious problem.

     And we also have had meetings with our customers back as early as June, 2003.  And we met with this class of customers.  We told the class of customers we have a serious, serious problem, and that we are going to be applying, and we have - excuse me - we have applied to make an adjustment.  And these individuals, they certainly, at that meeting, asked a very limited amount of questions.  They understood fully that there was a problem. 

     They knew -- the way the meeting was positioned was, We have a couple of ways to handle this.  We can do it -- what we considered as, from the board's point of view and my point of view, was taking the high road, calling the 16 people into a meeting, formally, PowerPoint presentation, letting them know this is the case:  our utility is not going to survive.  The neighbour is Hydro One.  If you go on Hydro One's rates, you will go up five times our rates. 

     That's not a good option for them.  They agreed with that.  And we said, Okay, we have to go to the Board, but it could take us a while, so we want some comments, some feedback from you.  We had feedback that actually said, Well, why don't we just pay the rate now?  That's where we come up with an idea of voluntary rate contribution.  And I have -- as of January the 1st, 2004, I have -- and I can give you the exact number, but there is half of them, the bigger half of them, voluntary payments we've received and put into our bank account.  And we are using their money, because our cash flow is just that bad.  We needed to do what we could do. 

     So out of these 16 customers, over half of them have already volunteered to this increase, and we have been taking their money from that.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Keith, I want to follow that up for a minute.  First of all, do all of them agree that they would have no objections to the rate increase?

     MR. KEITH:  Not all of them, no, sir.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So there is some that would object?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And what's on the record?  Do we have -- out of 16, who is for, who is against, who is different?

     MR. KEITH:  We have -- for the record, we had --

     MR. VLAHOS:  In the prefiled evidence that you -- that -- the evidence that you prefiled?

     MR. KEITH:  We have two people on record saying that they don't agree with the rate increase.  And the one, as I recall, states it's not that they don't think we need an increase to keep our business viable, but they looked at it from the point of view going from 7 -- .777 to 3.12 is, like, 400 percent, and that's unreasonable.  So they looked at it slightly different.  But they said they will leave it in the Board's hands to make that decision.

     The other individual made a comment that, you know, he just didn't think that -- he is a businessman, and he has to do his business the best he can, and he didn't feel it was appropriate to have a rate increase.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, you have actually, as a utility, have received payments that are in excess of what the rates would generate?

     MR. KEITH:  Absolutely.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You have received them?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes, we have.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You actually billed them?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes, we have.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You realize that this is -- you may be in contravention of the rate order that exists right now for the utility?

     MR. KEITH:  Our board of directors realize that.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And there was no concern? 

     MR. KEITH:  There was a concern.  But to them, it was a larger concern in that we were getting no action, no replies, no responses from the Ontario Energy Board at the time.  And nothing was favourable; they couldn't continue to operate like that.  They felt they have to do something and the -- and all they did was they asked the people, Look, we need some cash to operate our business, would you volunteer?  

     The way it's set up, we have not acknowledged the revenue into our books.  It is a book kept very separately in an account.  And if we have to return that money to them, we told them we will.  But they're basically paying us to allow our operation to go forward.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So you are billing them based on rates that are in excess of what the Board has authorized?

     MR. KEITH:  That is correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  We've established that.

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And those revenues, are they -- would they be recognized in those financial statements that you rely on?

     MR. KEITH:  They are not.

     MR. VLAHOS:  They are not.  So there is another set of accounts?

     MR. KEITH:  No, they're recognized as a liability, okay?  So it is not recognized as income.  It is recognized as an accounts payable.  So we've set them up -- we've taken their money.  We had a line item especially put on the bill, one line item.  We collected their money and we put it -- accounted for it as if it is an accounts payable.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. KEITH:  So we can tell you exactly how much money we owe what person.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But you have an accounts payable.  There has to be an off-setting entry.  I’m getting into accountancy, here - maybe my colleague can help - but you probably have to recognize that, first, as a revenue, in order to have it as a liability.

     MR. KEITH:  Again, I’m like you, and I'm not sure exactly how that works, but I know that the minute we recognize it, my net income is impacted positively.  So, however it's set up --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Was -- are you aware whether the -- your -- the council had received any legal advice whether they could do that, or the risk associated with it?

     MR. KEITH:  No, they did not receive legal advice. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  They did not?   

     MR. KEITH:  No.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And you can confirm that?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

     Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, just to follow up on one of the Board's points, Mr. Chair and Ms. Nowina, I believe you have the same binder I have, with the evidence.  And I'm just turning to the tab marked "observers", and still on the retroactivity point, Mr. Keith --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, will you help us again?

     MR. MILLAR: Yes, I'm sorry.  It's the tab marked "observers", and there is a letter from a customer.  I won't name the customer, but I believe there is only one -- actually there are two letters.  It is the first letter, dated April 18th, 2005.  For the sake of the customer's privacy, I won't name the customer.  I'm sorry, it's the Board's --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Millar.  Our material is not tabbed --

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- so we are struggling here. 

     Okay.  We have it now.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And I apologize, it didn't occur to me that maybe Mr. Keith wouldn't have a copy of it.  So Mr. Harmer, if you could show him the letter, just so he knows which one we’re referring to, though I'm sure he’s familiar with it.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, this is on public record now, so --

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- there is no hesitation to use the name.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, it is written by Mr. Farquar, Don Farquar.  Do you have that letter, Mr. Keith?

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  And I just want to turn to the last page of that letter, and, if I could just read it out, it says:

“I do, however, strenuously object to any increase being retroactive to March 1st, 2003, or any other time.  As a business owner, I must set budgets and pricing to my customers that reflect the costs of the day attributed to bringing my goods to market. I have no recourse to collect for any retroactive cost from my customers.  Any retroactive billing is a straight penalty that is neither collectible nor is it reasonable to include in my customers' present costing, as it does not reflect the present cost associated with bringing today's products to market."


Do you have any comment on Mr. Farquar's objection to the rates being retroactive?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.  Mr. Farquar was at the first meeting.  Mr. Farquar never made comment at the first meeting one way or another.  And subsequently Mr. Farquar was in my office, and Mr. Farquar last ‑‑ I'm going to tell you it was about last June, was in my office and wanted to, at that time, volunteer to pay the higher rate.  I refused his offer.  


The reason I refused his offer and accepted the others is because the Board had made a determination that we were taking retroactivity from January the 1st, 2004, and he came in in June and said he wanted to start the program, and we said, No, because it would be unfair.  We set rules at the Board.  


And that's how we positioned it.  So he was willing at that time to go along with it.  Secondly, Mr. Farquar is in a situation whereby he ‑‑ he is actually fed from Hydro One lines and he understands that he, more likely than not, in the very near future will become a Hydro One customer.  


And this is part of the reasoning that he came in in June, because he realized that this is probably going to be a change and his rates would be higher, and so on.  So he wanted to remain our customer and wants to remain to this date.  And I see his point in making this statement and saying, Well, you know, my goods go to market at a certain time and I don't have any recourse for retroactivity.


Again, he knew at the time we had the meetings that this was a possibility.  So it could have been set up as an expense line.  Other people set it up as an expense line, I know.  He could have done likewise, but he chose at this point to simply say, Well, no, if I cannot pay it, great.  


Likewise, if we don't get retroactivity, what do we do?  We have to now borrow and put it on the backs of all of the other customers.  That's unfair.  The little customer has already pay more than his fair share, the under 50.  To put even more burden on them is just, in my opinion, unfair.  


Personally, it's something I believe strong in.  It's not my money, obviously.  It is the ratepayers' money, and I just ‑‑ I don't believe that we should have to pay more.  I have to pay my power bills to the same company, and I don't think I should have to pay more to carry another rate class.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  So that would be your response to Mr. Farquar's letter?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keith, I just have one final area, and we've actually covered this quite a bit, so I'll put it to you quickly, but I think you've largely answered it.  


I wanted to explore the consultations that you've had with your customers about this.  It sounds to me like you've had fairly extensive consultations.  You mentioned a meeting with a PowerPoint presentation, and it seems you've spoken with many, if not all, of these people personally.  


Could you briefly sum up for the Board the consultations that you've had with the customers with regard to this proposed rate increase?


MR. KEITH:  Okay.  What I mentioned, in or around May, June, 2003, I had made my formal PowerPoint presentation, invited everyone.  And when I say “invited everyone”, we registered a letter saying, you know, There is this thing, this meeting.  We wanted to talk to our large customers, went through the whole process.  Everybody seemed to understand.


Again, we thought ‑‑ and I said this to the large customers, you know, There are other ways that we could go about handling this.  One of the ways is, Well, let's just tell all the small business guys that, hey, you're carrying the big business guys.  And, again, in a small town, there will be, like, war in minutes. 


We didn't think that was the high road.  We thought the high road is, Let's be up front, take these big 16 guys into the room and say, Look, here's our problem:  It's your utility.  You are part owner of this, in a roundabout way.  It is better for you to support us to keep your rates low than make us fold our cards and walk away from this whole thing.


And further consultation was one on one.  People would call me and say, Well, I want you to come and meet the board and talk to my board.  I would go.  I would talk to their board.  I would say, Look, here's the dilemma we have.  Okay, that was positive.  Any one‑on‑one meeting that I was asked to attend, it was a positive result.  They said, Absolutely, we'll do the voluntary thing.  


We assured them they will not be penalized in any way.  We thanked them for coming on board.  We explained.  Again, it's a cash flow issue for us, and the cheaper we can run our utility the better.  And I think it's important to look at when I -- when I hear the overall direction of the province, they say they want to keep rates low.  That's our goal.  


You would be hard pressed to say that we're not doing a good job at keeping the rates low.  We are one of the lowest residential rates in the province, a little wee company, and our general service rates are slightly higher than the provincial average, which I think is fine.  We don't have very many big general service customers.  Our base -- out of 3,300 customers, 3,000 of them are residential, so the majority of the people have some of the best rates in this province.  


And, believe me, you know, it's ‑‑ it can be intimidating for me to sit here at a Board meeting, but it is intimidating to sit in front of your council and your board, because they don't let you spend or squander your money.  It is, You make sure that you account for everything.  And, you know, we try to do a really, really good job there, and the retroactivity is going to be a very important element.  And I don't know if it ‑‑ if it's of any value to anyone.  


We talk about why retroactivity is important, but I have a bank reconciliation that shows our cash flows from 2001 up until April 2005, and you can see our cash flows have steadily decreased.


In fact, I have from my financial person, before I left, we're going to be in an overdraft situation of

300-some-thousand dollars.  This is not the first time.  This is more than one time.  The bank is looking for answers, and, again, if we don't get our retroactivity, it is a matter of, okay, we're going to have to borrow the money and put it on the backs of other people.  We think it is unfair, as a board, myself, and we think that absolute it should be retroactive.


MR. VLAHOS:  But you are getting these voluntary payments.


MR. KEITH:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  But it is not recognized in that bank statement?


MR. KEITH:  That's correct.  Well, it's recognized in the bank statement because it was cash flow.  If we don't get retroactivity, well, I'll just have to pull the money, again borrow more money to give back to the customers, because I owed it to them and we have it tracked separately.  


So it is a ‑‑ like I say, it's a very, very delicate situation and we're trying everything we can to keep our rates low, and there is no payments to shareholders.  There is no -- nothing.  It is just all ‑‑ we set our sights on keeping the rates as low as possible, and it's just that simple.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, if you could forgive me, I just want to make sure that I ask this question.  That interest payment that was made in 2004?


MR. KEITH:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Four.  I don't have the number handy.


MR. KEITH:  163,000.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So that was a payment to the shareholder?


MR. KEITH:  It was a paper payment, no dollars transferred; a paper payment only, so it added to the shareholder's equity.  That's it.  There is no dollar transfer.  Accountants can do magic things.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm not sure I want to know about all this.


MR. KEITH:  This is an income tax manoeuvre.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. KEITH:  Simply.


MR. VLAHOS:  But for purposes of your books, it is an expense, and for purposes of the Municipality, it would be an income?


MR. KEITH:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  So there is a payment to the Municipality.  I'm not looking at physical dollars changing hands here?


MR. KEITH:  You are looking at an increase to the shareholder equity.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right, which should earn a return on that investment as opposed to a dollar-for-dollar expense that is showing for the utility; am I correct?  I'm not sure if you follow me.


MR. KEITH:  I don't follow that question.


MR. VLAHOS:  You pay a dollar out, but you receive it -- a dollar back as an equity; right?  And for regulatory purposes, that dollar should only earn a fraction, that is your rate of return on the investment.

     MR. KEITH:  Well, I don't believe this $163,000 will come into the equation of regulatory issues.  I believe it’s only an income tax issue.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  I think you and I are arguing on accounting things which -- I know we’re not experts, so --

     MR. KEITH:  I’m not -- I don't -- all I know is that our accountant has explained it in a way that he said it's simply a paper entry.  It is nothing -- it doesn't -- I don't know how to put it.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Yeah, but if it does show up at your utility financial statements, it's more than just paper, isn't it?  You are asking this Board to recognize, that -- you know, that there is financial integrity associated with the utility.  It can't be just paper.

     MR. KEITH:  It's audited paper.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right. 

     Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keith, I think we're almost done here.  Just one final question.  If I could turn your attention to Exhibit D1.3, that's the chart showing all of the different utilities.  You had mentioned Hydro One, and I note that that's not one that we have on our chart here, and you mentioned their rates.  I'm just wondering if you know, for completeness of the record, what the monthly service charge and the variable rate charge for the greater than 50-kilowatt class is, for Hydro One? 

     MR. KEITH:  Yes, I do.  Hydro One, greater than 50-kilowatts, they have a fixed rate of 32.94 - $32.94 - and they have a volumetric rate of $8.06.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And those are all my questions.  There may be some more questions from the Panel.

     And just for the Panel's advisement, I don't have any closing remarks to make.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

     Mr. Keith, just a confirmation that I'm looking for.  We cannot -- the Board cannot ascertain a rate of return on common equity, based on the 2004 financial statements you have filed.  You cannot help us with that; am I correct?

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And similar for the 2005 projected, you cannot assist us as to what would be the rate of return on common equity in 2005? 

     MR. KEITH:  That's correct.   

     MR. VLAHOS:  Do you have any notion as to -- if the utility were to earn the market rate of return of 9.88 percent, what will that translate to, in terms of your bottom line, your net income?  Do you have any notion, at all?

     MR. KEITH:  No notion of that.

     MR. VLAHOS:  No notion.

     MR. KEITH:  I simply assumed something, and maybe I'm wrong.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, you’re assuming a positive number, now, it's more than zero.  Now is it -- it’s not more a million, that's your total revenue.  So is it less than a hundred thousand, more than a hundred thousand?  You haven't gone through that exercise?

     MR. KEITH:  No.  Rate of return issues were all gone through when rates were set, and I assume that that 9.88 was factored at the time.  But that's all -- that’s the only information I have on rate of return.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  But Espanola has had 2/3 of the MAR; right?  It has the -- 2/3 of the 9.88 in its rates?

     MR. KEITH:  Do we have 1/3 or 2/3? is what I'm thinking.  I think we only have the 1/3.  You think there's 2/3 there?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, but you're not sure.

     MR. KEITH:  I'm not sure.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

MR. KEITH:  I am, personally, not sure.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Keith.  These are the Board's questions.

     Do you have any closing statement, sir?


CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR KEITH:     

     MR. KEITH:  Yes.  I would ask that -- if the Board could make a decision on this matter as quickly as possible.  And the reason for my request relates right back to the financial statements.  As I started, earlier this morning, to say, there's got to be a re-statement of the financial statements.  I have a board meeting next week.  We want to set up our annual shareholders’ meeting and the Board have to officially ask the accountant to do the re-statement of the 2003 statements.  They will be making that request.  For my purpose -- and the accountant has said he'll start doing all that now, as soon as, you know, I know what we're going to be doing.  And I said, Well, wait until this hearing is over.  

     But, again, being a little guy, it makes it pretty nice and neat, when I can look at a set of statements and say, "There's 2003, there's 2004", all of the costs are recognized, and all of the income is recognized.  So if we were going to make a change to our rate, if you were going to allow that, then the timing is perfect.  That, if we got retroactivity, we have to open these books back up again for another reason, to direct that $31,000, he could then restate the income portion.  

     And, for going-forward matters, at least, when the Board asked us to submit rate applications, we can rely on an audited financial statement and say, That's the true numbers, and we’d just pull them out of the statement, rather than trying to add and subtract and figure and -- it leaves chance for error.  So I would ask that that be a consideration.  

     Secondly, I would just like to state that, by no means, do I believe that this rate increase will put our utility on a financial footing that is sound.  I believe that there are going to have to be further adjustments, and I would ask that the opportunity be left open for us to make such an application, such as our 2005 application, that has -- everyone else has had the opportunity to submit upon, that we have not, that the door still be left open that we can do that.

     For an example, we happened to rent a station -- or portion of a station from Hydro One.  We now are faced with an additional bill of $70,000 a year.  We're already in this problem.  Now, starting April 1st, they’re billing me more, and I haven't been able to apply to recover that.  And I would just ask that the door be left open so that we could make an application, once this is dealt with.

     And other than that, I'd just like to thank everyone, and, hopefully, I've given as much as I could.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Keith.  We certainly appreciate you being here today.  

     We will reserve on our decision, and we'll try to issue it as soon as possible.  I cannot guarantee that it will be next week, but we'll do our best to get at it as soon as possible, given the other commitments that this Panel has. 

     Just -- if I can be of assistance on the last point you've raised, legally, the utility has a right to apply at any time to come before the Board.  So it is not for this Panel to say yes or no.  So I just want you to know that. 

     MR. KEITH:  Okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right?

MR. KEITH:  Thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  With that, have a good drive, I guess, if you drove, or fly --

     MR. KEITH:  I did drive.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  We are -- 

     Anything else, Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  No, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  We're adjourned. 

     Thanks to the reporter.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:50 a.m.
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